RECEIVED

01-12-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP002488-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

TIMOTHY L. FINLEY, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Defendant's Postconviction Motion Entered in Brown County, the Honorable William M. Atkinson, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARTHA K. ASKINS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1008032

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2879 askinsm@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the state meet its burden of proof that Timothy Finley's plea was knowing and voluntary despite trial counsel's testimony that he had no specific recollection of informing Finley of the correct maximum penalty, and the plea questionnaire and in-court colloquy did not establish Finley knew the correct maximum penalty?

The trial court found the state had met its burden, and denied Finley's postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Finley does not request either oral argument or publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal in this case. In June of 2013, Finley filed a motion for postconviction relief seeking withdrawal of his no contest plea on the ground that his plea was not knowing and voluntary. (63; App. 141-147). He also moved, alternatively, for the court to commute his sentence in light of the supreme court's decision in *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482. (63:1; App. 141). Finley's motion for plea withdrawal alleged the plea colloquy was deficient in that he was not correctly informed of the applicable maximum penalty at the plea hearing, and he was not otherwise aware of the

maximum penalty. Although the correct maximum penalty he faced was 23.5 years, the plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form stated the maximum prison exposure was 19.5 years. (63:3; App. 143). The court repeated that incorrect prison penalty in its plea colloquy with Finley. (90:4).

The court, the Honorable William M. Atkinson presiding, held a hearing on the postconviction motion. (93). The state argued that Finley had not made a *prima facie* case for plea withdrawal. (93:3-10). The court agreed, and no evidence was presented at the postconviction hearing. (93:13).

Finley appealed, and this court affirmed the judgment but reversed the trial court's denial of his postconviction motion. (100; App. 101-110). The court concluded that Finley had made a *prima facie* showing, and remanded the case so that the state could attempt to prove that Finley's plea was knowing and voluntary despite the deficient colloquy. (100:9-10; App. 109-110).

Judge Atkinson held a hearing pursuant to the remand order, at which Finley's trial counsel, Jason Farris, testified. (93.2).

¹ Finley pled to first degree reckless endangerment, which is a Class F felony. As such, the maximum imprisonment was 12.5 years, consisting of 7.5 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(f); 973.01(2)(b)6m and (d)(4). The plea also included the dangerous weapon enhancer, adding five years to the initial confinement. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.63(1)(b). And, the plea included the repeater enhancer of six years to be added to the initial confinement. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(c). Thus, the maximum exposure was 18.5 years of initial confinement, and five years of extended supervision, for a total of 23.5 years.

Following presentation of the evidence, Finley conferred with counsel, and withdrew his argument that as an alternative to plea withdrawal, he wanted the court to commute his sentence to the 19.5 years he had been informed was the maximum penalty. (93.2: 23; App. 133). He maintained his position that he wanted to withdraw his plea. (*Id.*).

The court denied Finley's motion to withdraw his plea, but modified the sentence as Finley had originally requested in his postconviction motion. The court said:

All right. I'll find that the defendant's entitled to have his sentence modified to no more than the amount that was represented to him by the Court and stated on his Plea Questionnaire and Waiver of Rights Form and that was nineteen years and six months. I think I had imposed eighteen years and six months original and then five years extended supervision.

What I'll do, I guess, just to avoid even further issue on the mathematics then—so that's four years less, so I'll reduce his initial confinement to fourteen years six months, maintain the extended supervision at five years, order the judgment of conviction be amended to reflect the sentence then a total of nineteen years six months comprised of fourteen years six months of extended supervision—correction, fourteen years six months initial confinement, followed by five years of extended supervision.

To the extent that the motion was to then to allow him to withdraw his plea, the motion is denied.

(93.2:23-24; App. 133-34).

The court filed a written decision and order on October 8, 2014, (108) and then an amended decision and

order on October 17, 2014. (109; App. 137-140). In the October 17th decision, the court stated it believed the state had met its burden of proving that "Finley knew the maximum penalty he faced at the time he entered his plea." (109:3; App. 139). However, the court commuted Finley's sentence to 14.5 years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision "in the interest of justice." (*Id.*). The court relied on Wis. Stat. § 973.13, and *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶45, n.13, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482 to fashion this remedy. (*Id.*).

Finley filed a notice of appeal and again seeks plea withdrawal. (111).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The state filed a criminal complaint on June 7, 2011, which charged Timothy L. Finley, Jr., with multiple charges arising out of an incident in which he was alleged to have severely beaten and confined his girlfriend, Kara. The charges were first degree reckless endangerment, with a dangerous weapon; substantial battery; strangulation and suffocation; and false imprisonment, all as an act of domestic abuse. (2). On June 27, 2011, the state filed an information which added the repeater enhancer pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.62, to each charge. (12).

The case was resolved with a plea agreement one year later. Finley appeared before the Honorable William M. Atkinson on June 25, 2012, and pleaded no contest to one count of first degree reckless endangerment, as a domestic abuse and with a dangerous weapon, as a repeater. (90:5). Finley's attorney tendered a completed plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form to the court. (44; App. 148-49). In the section reserved for the statement of the maximum penalty,

the form reads: "19 years, 6 months confinement and \$25,000 fine and court costs." (44:1; App. 148).

The court addressed Finley personally at the plea hearing. Regarding the maximum penalty, the court and Finley had this exchange:

THE COURT: The maximum penalty for the offense would be a fine of not more than \$25,000 or imprisonment not more than twelve years and six months or both.

MR. FINLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. I take it—are we pleading as a repeater?

MR. LASEE (District Attorney): Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. That will be the base penalty. Then because you are a repeater, then they could increase the incarceration period by not more than an additional six years. And they are basing the repeater enhancement provision on the fact that you were convicted of possession of cocaine as a subsequent offender, and possession of THC as a subsequent offender on September 12th, 2008, in Brown County. Do you remember those felonies?

MR. FINLEY: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And they are also charging that you used a dangerous weapon. And for the enhancement provision of using a dangerous weapon then the term of imprisonment can be increased by not more than five years for that. Do you understand that then?

MR. FINLEY: Yeah.

THE COURT: All right. So, the maximum you would look at then nineteen years six months confinement. Do you understand the maximum penalties?

MR. FINLEY: Yes, sir.

(90:3-4).

The court accepted Finley's plea, and he returned to court for sentencing on October 19, 2012. The state recommended the court sentence Finley to ten years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (92:12). The court sentenced Finley to a total of 23.5 years, comprised of eighteen years and six months of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision, stating:

I am going to impose the maximum sentence in this case. I calculate that to be twenty-three point five years consisting of eighteen point five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision.

(92:30-31).

Finley filed a postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal, or alternatively, that the court commute his sentence to a total of 19.5 years as that was the maximum penalty explained to him at the plea hearing. (63; App. 141-147). For the plea withdrawal claim, Finley argued the court had failed to ensure Finley's understanding of the maximum potential imprisonment penalty at the plea hearing, and that in fact Finley did not know the maximum potential term of imprisonment. (63:3-5; App. 113-115). He argued that the correct maximum penalty Finley faced was 23.5 years, which the court eventually imposed, but that the plea colloquy showed Finley was incorrectly told the maximum potential penalty was 19.5 years.

Judge Atkinson held a hearing on the motion on July 19, 2013. (93; App. 118-131). The state argued that Finley had failed to establish a *prima facie* case and that the burden had not shifted to the state, based on State v. Taylor. The prosecutor argued that Finley "was fully aware of what the maximum penalty was in this case was [sic] in spite of the fact that he was erroneously informed regarding the total amount of the maximum penalty in this case." (93:6; App. 123). He argued that the "record is replete with information establishing that the defendant knew what the maximum penalty was and that's exactly what he got." (93:8; App. 125).

The court agreed with the state and denied Finley's motion. Finley filed a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief. (69; 72).

As noted above, this court reversed the trial court's order and remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, the state called Finley's trial attorney, Jason Farris, to testify. On direct examination, Attorney Farris testified that his normal practice with clients is to cover the specific exposure that a client faces upon a plea of guilty. (93.2:9; App. 119). He testified that "to the best of [his] knowledge," Finley was aware of the maximum potential penalties for the crime and the enhancers relevant to his case. (93.2:10; App. 120).

On cross-examination, Attorney Farris testified he had no specific recollection of telling Finley the maximum penalties relevant to his case. (93:2:11; App. 121). With respect to the maximum penalty which appears on the plea questionnaire in Finley's case, Attorney Farris noted that the form states Finley faced a maximum potential penalty of 19.5 years of initial confinement, and that that number is

typed on the form. (93.2:12; App. 122). Attorney Farris testified that he had "racked [his] brain," but had no recollection of where that number came from. (*Id.*). He testified that "the number came from somewhere and I wrote it down, so obviously there is some sort of math error that was made or typo of one form or another." (93.2:15; App. 125). He also testified that his practice in reviewing a plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form is to go through the questionnaire line-by-line with the client, and that it would be his practice to repeat the maximum penalty listed on the plea questionnaire to the client. (*Id.*).

The trial court denied Finley's motion to withdraw his plea. (93.2:24; App. 134). However, the court modified Finley's sentence to 19.5 years, which was the number he was told at the time of the plea, consisting of 14.5 years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (93.2:23-24; App. 133-34).

Finley again appeals, asking that the court allow him to withdraw his guilty plea.²

² In his postconviction motion and in his first appeal, Finley asked the court to commute his sentence to the 19.5 years that he was told he faced in light of his plea. At the evidentiary hearing conducted on June 13, 2014, Finley withdrew that claim, stating that he wished only to withdraw his plea. The court denied his motion to withdraw his plea, but commuted his sentence to a total of 19.5 year, consisting of 14.5 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision.

ARGUMENT

Because the State Failed to Prove Finley Understood the Maximum Penalties He Faced Due to His No Contest Plea, The Trial Court Incorrectly Denied Finley's Motion to Withdraw His Plea.

Timothy Finley's plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered because he did not know the maximum penalties he faced upon conviction. While his no contest plea exposed him to possible imprisonment of 23.5 years, the plea questionnaire stated the penalty was 19.5 years, and the trial court repeated that number in its plea colloquy. He seeks withdrawal of his guilty plea because it was not knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered.

"When a defendant seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, he must prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in 'manifest injustice.'" *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906, *citing State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶16, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. "One way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea. *Id.* (citations omitted). A defendant's plea is not knowing, voluntary and intelligent if he or she is not aware of the potential penalties he or she faces. *Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d at 617, ¶35.

State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), provides the framework for a defendant who seeks plea withdrawal post-sentencing. Whenever the procedure set forth in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 is not followed, or whenever the court does not fulfill other mandated duties at the plea

hearing, the defendant may move for withdrawal of his or her plea. *Id.* at 274. "The initial burden rests with the defendant to make a *prima facie* showing that his plea was accepted without the trial court's conformance with sec. 971.08 or other mandatory procedures...." *Id.*, (citations omitted). The defendant must also allege he in fact did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing. *Id.* Once the defendant shows his plea was accepted without meeting the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures, and also alleges he did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing, the burden shifts to the state to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was nevertheless knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered. *Id.*

In Finley's first appeal, this court concluded that Finley had met his initial burden of showing his plea was accepted without the trial court's conformance with Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures. (100; App. 101-110). Specifically, the court concluded Finley had established a *prima facie* case that his plea was accepted even though he had not been informed of the correct maximum potential penalties he faced as a result of his plea. (100: ¶16; App. 109). This court remanded the case to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing at which the burden would shift to the state to prove Finley's plea was knowing and voluntary. (100:¶21; App. 110).³

On remand, the trial court held a hearing at which Finley's trial attorney, Jason Farris testified. (93.2). Having heard Attorney Farris' testimony, the trial court denied

³ It appears there is an error in the court of appeals' opinion, as the numbered paragraphs proceed from ¶1 to 16, but then jump to ¶21.

Finley's motion for plea withdrawal, but modified the sentence to a total of 19.5 years because that is the number he was told at the time of the plea hearing. The trial court found that Finley knew the maximum penalties he faced as a result of his plea, despite Farris' testimony that he had no recollection of telling Finley the correct penalty, and the penalty typed in on the plea questionnaire was incorrect.

Because the state failed to prove that Finley in fact knew the maximum penalty he faced upon conviction of the crime and the repeater enhancers he faced as a result of his plea, the trial court's order must be reversed, and Finley must be allowed to withdraw his plea.

In determining whether the state met its burden of showing Finley's plea was entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily, this court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Hoppe*, 2009 WI 41, ¶45, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794. This court independently determines whether those facts demonstrate that the defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent. *Id.*

The circuit court here did not point to specific testimony by trial counsel, or other parts of the record, in order to conclude that Finley in fact understood at the time of his plea that he faced 23.5 years of imprisonment as opposed to 19.5 years of imprisonment. The court simply stated at both the hearing and in its written decision that: "The Court now finds that the State met its burden of establishing that Finley knew the maximum penalty he faced at the time he entered his plea." (109:3; App. 139).

To the extent that the trial court's ruling constitutes findings of fact, those findings are clearly erroneous. The only evidence presented at the postconviction hearing was trial counsel's testimony. Trial counsel testified that, while his usual practice is to review the maximum penalties with his clients prior to a plea hearing, and presumably he attempts to give accurate information, in this case he could not account for how he arrived at the 19.5 years that appears on the plea questionnaire. He also testified that his usual practice would be to review a plea questionnaire line-by-line with his clients, and in this case, it is undisputed that the plea questionnaire has the incorrect maximum penalty on it. It reads 19.5 years, rather than the 23.5 years which was the correct maximum penalty, and which also was the number of years the court actually imposed at the original sentencing. Trial counsel's undisputed testimony was the only evidence proffered by the state in its attempt to prove that Finley understood the maximum penalty he faced was 23.5 years, and not the 19.5 years which was stated out loud by the trial judge at the plea hearing and which was typed in on the plea questionnaire. Trial counsel's testimony does not constitute the clear and convincing evidence that is required to show the defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent, despite the defects in the plea colloquy. See Hoppe, 317 Wis. 2d 161, ¶44.

The court in *Hoppe* explained that the state may rely on the "totality of the evidence," and can include testimony of both the defendant and defense counsel, documentary evidence, and transcripts of other court proceedings to satisfy its burden. *Hoppe*, 317 Wis. 2d 161, ¶47. As the court stated in *State v. Nichelson*, 220 Wis. 2d 214, 222, 582 N.W.2d 460 (Ct. App. 1998), the state can call the defendant as a witness in order to demonstrate that the defendant understood the information that was missing from the plea colloquy.

Attorney Farris' testimony, however, touched only on his actions in this case, and did not address his perception of whether Finley in fact understood the applicable penalties. Although Attorney Farris testified that "to the best of his knowledge," Finley knew the maximum penalties, he did not offer any testimony to explain this belief. (93.2:10). Counsel did not pursue questioning to determine how Attorney Farris explained the penalties to Finley, when that occurred, how much time was spent reviewing the plea agreement and plea questionnaire, or other relevant facts which would allow a court to conclude that Finley understood the applicable maximum penalties despite the incorrect information on the plea questionnaire and in the in-court colloquy.

In *Nichelson*, the court said that, in order to meet its burden, the state must present some "affirmative evidence of the defendant's then existing mental state." *Id.* at 224-225. In *State v. Jipson*, 2003 WI App 222, ¶11, 267 Wis. 2d 467, 671 N.W.2d 18, the court said that even when a defendant's *prima facie* case may seem incredible, the state must present affirmative evidence to rebut it. Here, the state did not introduce affirmative evidence of the Finley's mental state at the time of the plea hearing in June of 2012. The evidence points to the conclusion that, not only was Finley's *prima facie* case *not* incredible, the most likely conclusion is that Finley believed he faced 19.5 years, because that is the number that is on the plea questionnaire, and the number stated aloud by the trial court at the plea hearing.

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