RECEIVED

03-01-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP002488-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

TIMOTHY L. FINLEY, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III, Reversing a Judgment of Conviction and Sentence Entered in Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable William M. Atkinson, Presiding.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CATHERINE R. MALCHOW Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1092705

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1638 malchowc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

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

An unknowing plea has occurred when the defendant is misinformed that the maximum sentence is actually less than that allowed by law, the defendant asserts he did not know the correct maximum penalty, and the state fails to prove otherwise. This is a **Bangert** violation. As such, Mr. Finley is entitled to plea withdrawal. This Court's holdings in **Cross** and **Taylor** support the remedy of plea withdrawal because an actual **Bangert** violation occurred in Mr. Finley's case but not in **Cross** and **Taylor**.

2. Wis. Stat. § 973.13 does not apply.

Section 973.13 is inapplicable to the facts of this case. While the state argued this statute applied in the circuit court and in the court of appeals, it has not renewed that argument in its petition for review or brief-in-chief.⁷ The circuit court relied on this statute in modifying Mr. Finley's sentence.

⁶ The state's reliance on *Taylor* to assert that there is no manifest injustice in Mr. Finley's case repeats the same mistake it did in the court of appeals. As the court of appeals aptly noted, "nearly all of the State's citations to *Taylor* deal with that portion of the decision concerning whether there is manifest injustice in enforcing a plea agreement, postsentence, independent of a finding that the defendant did not plead knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily." *Finley*, 2015 WI App 79, ¶35 (Pet. App. 121). Again, there is no independent finding in Mr. Finley's case that his plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

⁷ Arguments not raised on appeal are forfeited. *See State v. Margaret H.*, 2000 WI 42, ¶37, n.5, 234 Wis. 2d 606, 610 N.W.2d 475.

However, § 973.13 does not give the circuit court authority to commute an otherwise legal sentence to the incorrect maximum sentence the defendant was informed of at his plea hearing.

Section 973.13 contemplates a situation when the circuit court has imposed "a maximum penalty in excess of that authorized by law," and allows for validating the length of a sentence by reducing it "only to the extent of the maximum term authorized by statute." Wis. Stat. § 973.13. Therefore, this statute remedies an invalid sentence, not an unknowing plea. As the court of appeals soundly reasoned:

By statute, Finley's maximum penalty *was* that which he initially received, twenty-three and one-half years' imprisonment. His sentence was commuted not to "the amount authorized by law" or "the maximum term authorized by statute," but rather to an amount Finley misunderstood to be his maximum exposure based on errors surrounding his plea.

State v. Finley, 2015 WI App 79, ¶33 (Pet. App. 119) (emphasis in original). Because Mr. Finley's original sentence was not in excess of that authorized by law, this statute provides no authority to reduce his sentence, as it already is "the maximum term authorized by statute." Wis. Stat. § 973.13. See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning").

The state and circuit court originally relied on footnote 13 in *Taylor*, along with the portion of *Cross* on which the *Taylor* footnote relied, for the authority that Mr. Finley's sentence could be commuted under § 973.13. However, Mr. Finley agrees with the court of appeals that these cases do

not clearly indicate that § 973.13 can apply to the circumstances found in this case. *State v. Finley*, 2015 WI App 79, ¶33, *citing Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶¶34, 45 n. 13, and *Cross*, 2010 WI 70, ¶¶34–35 (Pet. App. 119).

Furthermore, the state misreads and overemphasizes the importance of *Taylor*'s footnote 13. This footnote appears in the court's analysis of whether plea withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. *Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶45 n. 13. The court had already considered whether a *Bangert* violation had occurred, and after concluding that it had not, moved on to whether the defendant had established a manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal. *Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶50 n. 18. As such, this footnote is not relevant to plea withdrawal in a *Bangert* context, and Mr. Finley's case belongs within the *Bangert* framework.

However, even if the *Taylor* footnote holds that a failure to inform a defendant of a penalty enhancer at the plea hearing allows for commutation of the sentence to remove the penalty enhancer and thereby renders the plea knowing under *Bangert*, this remedy does not work in Mr. Finley's case. Here, it is impossible to "commute" the sentence and remove one or more of the penalty enhancers to create a maximum punishment of 19.5 years.⁸

⁸ See State v. Finley, 2015 WI App 79, ¶30 (Pet. App. 117) ("This case is not amenable to the type of resolution applied in *Taylor* Here, the circuit court did, in fact, sentence Finley, at least initially, to the maximum penalty allowed by law as a result of both the repeater and dangerous weapon enhancers. Moreover, even after 'commuting' the sentence, the circuit court did not sentence Finley only to the twelve and one-half years' imprisonment maximum for the underlying offense of reckless endangerment as domestic abuse.")

Mr. Finley's underlying plea to first degree reckless endangerment carried a maximum punishment of 12.5 years, consisting of 7.5 years of initial confinement and 5 years of extended supervision. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(f), 973.01(2)(b)6m and (d)(4). The dangerous weapon enhancer added five years to the initial confinement, *see* Wis. Stat. § 939.63(1)(b), and the repeater enhancer added six years to the initial confinement. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(c). Removing any of these penalty enhancers does not reduce the maximum sentence to 19.5 years that Mr. Finley was informed he could receive.⁹

Finally, to find § 973.13 applicable in this case would lead to an absurd result and allow a mistake by the circuit court and prosecutor to rewrite the legislature's maximum penalties. It is a well-established proposition in our system of separate branches of government that the legislature prescribes the range of punishment for a particular crime, and the court imposes the punishment. *Spannuth v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 362, 367, 234 N.W.2d 79 (1975); see *State v. Horn*, 226 Wis. 2d 637, 646, 594 N.W.2d 772 (1999) ("The legislature has the authority to determine the scope of the sentencing court's discretion. The sentencing court has discretion, within that legislatively-determine scope, to fashion a sentence...")

⁹ The record also supports that the penalty enhancers and underlying charge cannot be configured in a way to make the potential maximum penalty Mr. Finley could be facing 19.5 years total, as the defense attorney could not even recall how he came up with that number. At the second postconviction hearing, Mr. Finley's trial attorney testified that he had "racked [his] brain," but had no recollection of where 19.5 years came from. (93.2:12). He testified that "the number came from somewhere and I wrote it down, so obviously there is some sort of math error that was made or typo of one form or another."(93.2:15).

The facts in Mr. Finley's case easily illustrate the danger with the state's proposed remedy. The victim requested that Mr. Finley receive "everything possible as a punishment in this case." (92:13). The circuit court also thought the maximum penalty was necessary, stating "I don't know what cases require the maximum if this one doesn't." (92:30). Yet, because of a miscalculation, the legislature's authority is ignored, the victim's input cannot be fully considered, and the circuit court's original intent is thwarted.

The state's proposed rule of commutation rewrites the legislature's mandate of what a maximum penalty should be for the crimes in Mr. Finley's case. The circuit court allowed a mistake to justify a modification from the maximum sentence the court legally imposed. Mr. Finley is aware of no other scenario in which it is it acceptable for a mistake by the parties to rewrite the law. The court found the maximum was necessary in this case, and the legislature alone sets the maximum penalties allowable by law. *See Spannuth*, 70 Wis. 2d at 367; *see also State v. Sittig*, 75 Wis. 2d 497, 500, 249 N.W.2d 770 (1977)("a court's refusal to impose a mandatory sentence or fashion a sentence within limits prescribed by the legislature constitutes an abuse of discretion by the court and also usurpation of the legislative field.")

Mr. Finley contends the court of appeals' analysis was correct in finding that § 973.13 only applies in situations where a sentence imposed was in excess of that authorized by law. In Mr. Finley's case, the original sentence imposed was the lawful maximum, within the amount "authorized by law" and within the "extent of the maximum term authorized by statute." As such, § 973.13 does not apply.

3. Circuit courts have limited authority to modify a sentence

A circuit court's limited inherent authority to modify a criminal sentence does not include modification because the circuit court and prosecutor misinformed the defendant of the maximum penalty at the plea hearing.

Wisconsin circuit courts have inherent authority to modify criminal sentences but only "within certain constraints." *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. "[A] circuit court's inherent authority to modify a sentence is a discretionary power that is exercised within defined parameters." *State v. Crochiere*, 2004 WI 78, ¶12, 273 Wis. 2d 57, 681 N.W.2d 524 *abrogated by State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28. These defined parameters allow for sentence modification: 1) in order to correct formal or clerical errors or an illegal or void sentence; 2) to modify based on a new factor; or 3) to modify if the sentence is unduly harsh or unconscionable. *Id*. A court cannot base a sentence modification on reflection and second thoughts alone. *State v. Wuensch*, 69 Wis. 2d 467, 474, 480, 230 N.W.2d 665 (1975).

Nowhere within these carefully "defined parameters" is the authority to modify a sentence because the parties misinformed the defendant of the correct maximum penalty at the plea hearing. Mr. Finley's original sentence was not illegal, as argued *supra*. The misinformation cannot render it unduly harsh and unconscionable—especially when the circuit court intended the legislature's legal maximum to be imposed. Nor does the misinformation amount to a "new factor." Indeed, the state has not argued that the authority to modify a sentence based on misinformation at a plea hearing lies within any of these "defined parameters."

Finally, the circuit court's own rationale for sentence modification is not supported by law. The circuit court in this case modified Mr. Finley's sentence "in the interests of justice," even though it originally believed justice required that Mr. Finley receive the maximum penalty. While the state has not argued that a court has the authority to modify a sentence under this standard, the "interest of justice" standard is inapplicable to the case at hand, as it is used for determining whether a defendant is entitled to a new trial, not to a sentence modification. *See* Wis. Stat. § 805.15(1) ("A party may move to set aside a verdict and for a new trial...because of newly-discovered evidence, or in the interest of justice.")

Therefore, the circuit court did not have the authority to modify Mr. Finley's sentence.

4. The state's reliance on outside jurisdictions interpreting Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11 or similar provisions does not support its argument that commutation is an appropriate remedy for an unknowing plea under the *Bangert* standard.

The state cites several federal cases interpreting Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11, and out-of-state cases interpreting similar provisions, for the proposition that "where the sentence conforms to precisely what the defendant understood to be the maximum sentence to which he exposed himself by his plea, the defendant understood the consequences of his plea." (Petitioner's brief, p. 13). The state's reliance on this rule is misplaced, as case law interpreting Rule 11 does not support commutation as an appropriate remedy for an unknowing plea under **Bangert**. The relevant provision of Rule 11 states that at the time of the plea, the court must communicate to the defendant personally any maximum possible penalty, including the imprisonment, fine and term of supervised release. Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b)(1)(H). However, any violation of Rule 11 will not necessarily invalidate a guilty plea. Violations of Rule 11 are subject to the harmless error test, and a violation is harmless "if it does not affect [the defendant's] substantial rights." *Id.*

The outside authority relied on by the state is distinguishable because most of these cases involve a court's failure to inform the defendants about a mandatory "special parole term." *See United States v. Sheppard*, 588 F.2d 917 (4th Cir. 1978); *United States v. Rodrigue*, 545 F.2d 75 (8th Cir. 1976); *Bachner v. United States*, 517 F.2d 589 (7th Cir. 1975); *United States v. Iaquinta*, 719 F.2d 83 (4th Cir. 1983); *Bell v. United States*, 521 F.2d 713 (4th Cir. 1975); *Aviles v. United States*, 405 F. Supp. 1374 (S.D.NY. 1975); *United States v. Lewis*, 875 F.2d 444 (5th Cir. 1989). A special parole term does not have an effect on the period of a defendant's incarceration unless the defendant violates conditions of his parole. *Bachner v. United States* 517 F.2d 589, 597 (7th Cir. 1975).

The use of this harmless test further distinguishes the cases cited by the state. The cases cited by the state use this harmless error test to determine that despite the misinformation regarding the maximum penalty the defendants faced upon conviction, because those defendants received a sentence they were verbally informed they could get, it did not affect the defendant's substantial rights. In applying the harmless error test, these courts found that the defendant would have to show that he would not have pled had he received the correct information. See Commonwealth *v. Barbosa*, 2003 PA Super 77, 818 A.2D 81, ¶18 (remanding to determine whether defendant knew the maximum and whether any mistake was material to his decision to enter the plea); *Cole v. State*, 850 S.W.2d 406, 409 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993) (a showing that defendant would have gone to trial had he known the correct maximum "is required to demonstrate prejudice."); *Bell v. United States*, 521 F.2d 713, 715 (4th Cir. 1975) (acknowledging invalidation of the plea is required when the sentence and the special parole term exceed the maximum sentence a defendant was told he could receive, but failure to inform defendant of special parole term harmless error because the defendant received a sentence within the maximum he was told).

The state's citation to these other authorities in jurisdictions that employ a harmless error test does little to support its argument that commutation is proper under *Bangert*. *Bangert* employs a limited harmless error test. A violation of *Bangert* or other mandated duties under 971.08 is only harmless if the state can show that the defendant otherwise knew the information he did not correctly receive. *See State v. Lagundoye*, 2004 WI 4, ¶¶40-44, 268 Wis. 2d 77, 674 N.W.2d 526 (describing as "harmless error" the situation of a defendant who knows the immigration consequences of a plea despite not being informed). The state has repeatedly failed to show, and has conceded, that Mr. Finley did not know the proper maximum punishment in this case. (Petitioner's Brief, pp. 7-8). This does not satisfy *Bangert*'s limited harmless error test.

Rather, the *Bangert* test requires the state to show the guilty plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, thereby acknowledging that the duties specified in § 971.08 and case law are material to the defendant's decision to plead guilty. For these reasons, the state's reliance on outside authority

using a harmless error test where the defendant was misinformed about the maximum but received a sentence within the incorrect maximum he was informed, does not support the remedy of commutation under a *Bangert* analysis.

E. Assuming the circuit court has the authority to commute the sentence, this Court should not allow sentence commutation as an alternative to plea withdrawal when the defendant has established a *Bangert* violation and the state has failed to prove that the defendant otherwise knew the correct information.

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